2002

# Melody Little v. Davis County : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### Statement of Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Const. Art. VIII, § 3 and Utah Code § 78-2-2(2)(j) (West 2002).

### Statement of Issues

Whether formally serving an individual represented as authorized to accept service on behalf of the Davis County Clerk complies with the Governmental Immunity Act's notice of claim requirement?

### Standard of Review

Under *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 9, 40 P.3d 632, this Court reviews a “district court's dismissal of a case based on governmental immunity [as] a determination of law that we afford no deference.”

### Statutory Provisions

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 (West 2003) ..... Addendum A

Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-2 (West 2003) ..... Addendum B

### Statement of the Case

Appellant Melody Little brought a claim against Davis County for injuries she sustained at the historic Davis County courthouse in August of 2001. Davis County, on April 4, 2002, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment arguing, *inter alia*, that Melody failed to deliver a notice of claim to the Davis County Clerk and thereby deprived the trial court of jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11, 13. (R. 30-32, Def. Mem.

Supp. S.J. at pp. 4-5)<sup>1</sup>. Appellant Melody Little responded that process server Ken Thomson formally served Pat Beckstead, a person held out as authorized to accept service on behalf of the Davis County Clerk, with a notice of claim naming Davis County. (R. 94-95, Pls. Mem. Opp. S.J. at p. 4-5). Davis County replied that (1) the notice was not ‘directed’ to the Davis County Clerk (R. 165, Def. Reply p. 2) and (2) did not state with sufficient specificity the damages claimed and therefor remained deficient under the statute. (Id.).

On November 15, 2002, the Second District Court, Davis County, Judge Michael G. Allphin presiding, ruled that the notice of claim was “not directed to the Davis County Clerk” and “was also deficient when it did not clearly set forth the damages incurred by the claimant so far as they are known.” (R. 309, Ruling On Defendants Motion to Dismiss at p. 4). Accordingly the court found the claims “barred for failure to comply with the notice requirements.” (R. 310 and Id. at 5).

#### Statement of Facts

On August 14, 2000, Melody Little went to the historic Davis County Courthouse to obtain her food handler’s permit. (R. 91, Pls. Mem. Opp. p. 1). While exiting the building, she tripped and fell over a raised portion of concrete, injuring her face and elbow. (R.1, Complaint at 1). Melody and her attorney drafted a notice of claim which

---

<sup>1</sup> Note: The District Court’s pagination of the record appears to be somewhat disordered at the time of Appellant’s initial brief. Accordingly, cites are also given to the actual page numbers of the cited pleading.



specified damages as: a broken left arm, damaged teeth, pain and suffering, medical expenses and physical therapy expenses. (R. 44, Def. Mem. S.J. Exh. 1A). On October 25, 2000, process server Ken Thomson attempted to deliver a Notice of Claim to the Davis County Clerk. (R. 94, 123, Pls. Mem. Opp. p. 3 para 5 and Exh. D). Mr. Thomson found the Clerk unavailable and, as is his usual practice, asked if anyone in the office was authorized to accept service on behalf of the Clerk. (Id.). An employee in the office, Pat Beckstead, was represented as available to accept service on behalf of the Davis County Clerk. (Id.) LaMarr Holt, a Davis County employee, knew Pat Beckstead to be an employee of Davis County working within the Davis County Clerk's office. (R. 115, Pls. Mem. at Exh B, p 34). Pat Beckstead also served as the Davis County Clerk's Notary Public. (Record at Def Mem SJ Rawlings Affidavit). Mr. Thomson personally served the Notice of Claim on Pat Beckstead. (R. 125, Pls Mem Opp Exh D). Although Davis County Clerk Steve Rawlings claims the notice of claim was "never directed or delivered to me," two days after service the insurer for Davis County received and processed the notice of claim. (R. 44, Def. Mem. Supp. S.J. at Exh. 1A).

#### Summary of the Argument

Mr. Thomson's directing and delivering the notice of claim to the Davis County Clerk fulfilled all statutory requirements. No statutory language imposes the duty to name the county clerk. Construing the statute to require naming the county clerk not only lacks a basis in the statute's language, but imposes a technical requirement that

specified damages as: a broken left arm, damaged teeth, pain and suffering, medical expenses and physical therapy expenses. (R. 44, Def. Mem. S.J. Exh. 1A). On October 25, 2000, process server Ken Thomson attempted to deliver a Notice of Claim to the Davis County Clerk. (R. 94, 123, Pls. Mem. Opp. p. 3 para 5 and Exh. D). Mr. Thomson found the Clerk unavailable and, as is his usual practice, asked if anyone in the office was authorized to accept service on behalf of the Clerk. (Id.). An employee in the office, Pat Beckstead, was represented as available to accept service on behalf of the Davis County Clerk. (Id.) LaMarr Holt, a Davis County employee, knew Pat Beckstead to be an employee of Davis County working within the Davis County Clerk's office. (R. 115, Pls. Mem. at Exh B, p 34). Pat Beckstead also served as the Davis County Clerk's Notary Public. (Record at Def Mem SJ Rawlings Affidavit). Mr. Thomson personally served the Notice of Claim on Pat Beckstead. (R. 125, Pls Mem Opp Exh D). Although Davis County Clerk Steve Rawlings claims the notice of claim was "never directed or delivered to me," two days after service the insurer for Davis County received and processed the notice of claim. (R. 44, Def. Mem. Supp. S.J. at Exh. 1A).

#### Summary of the Argument

Mr. Thomson's directing and delivering the notice of claim to the Davis County Clerk fulfilled all statutory requirements. No statutory language imposes the duty to name the county clerk. Construing the statute to require naming the county clerk not only lacks a basis in the statute's language, but imposes a technical requirement that

frustrates the waiver of governmental immunity and deprives legitimately injured parties of their right to compensation. Moreover, no specific dollar amount in damages need be stated in order to satisfy the notice of claim requirements. The statute simply requires recitation of damages “so far as they are known.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(a)(iii) (West 2003). Ms. Little first filed a notice of claim just two months after the incident. While this afforded Davis County the immediate opportunity to remedy the condition, it foreclosed setting forth a definite amount in damages. Of course, “it is the duty of the court to look to substance rather than to technicality in order that plaintiff may have a fair adjudication of her claim.” *Spencer v. Salt Lake City*, 17 Utah 2d 362, 364-65, 412 P.2d 449, 450 (1966). Because no statutory language supports the technical requirements imposed by the trial court, the dismissal of Melody’s claim should not be allowed to stand as precedent.

### ARGUMENT

#### I. DIRECTING AND DELIVERING A NOTICE OF CLAIM TO THE DAVIS COUNTY CLERK’S OFFICE FULFILLS THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS.

Directing and delivering a notice of claim to the Davis County Clerk satisfies statutory requirements. Under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(B) (West 2003) a notice of claim must be “directed and delivered to: the county clerk when the claim is against the county.” Here, process server Ken Thomson attempted to formally serve a notice of claim on the Davis County Clerk, Steve Rawlings. Finding Mr. Rawlings

unavailable, Ken Thomson sought someone who could receive service on his behalf. Pat Beckstead was represented as authorized to accept service on behalf of the Davis County Clerk. Ken Thomson then directed and delivered the notice of claim to the Davis County Clerk through Pat Beckstead.

Providing a notice of claim affords “the responsible public authorities an opportunity to pursue a proper and timely investigation of the merits of a claim and to arrive at a timely settlement, if appropriate, thereby avoiding the expenditure of public revenue for costly and unnecessary litigation.” *Nuñez v. Albo*, 2002 UT App 247, ¶ 25, 53 P.3d 2. Even though Davis County alleges the notice to be improperly ‘directed and delivered,’ the notice nonetheless found its way to McLarens, an international loss adjuster located in Murray, two days after formal service. (R. at 44, Def. Mem. Supp. S.J. at Exh. 1A). The reasonable inference to draw from the facts is that the proper authority, the Davis County Clerk, received the notice of claim and then forwarded it to the insurance adjustors for further handling. Davis County held the opportunity to conduct an investigation and avoid the expenditure of public revenue, but instead chose to construct a defense based on a hypertechnical construction of the statute purportedly requiring that the Davis County Clerk be named.

However, courts should not expand sovereign immunity beyond the language of the statute. While criticizing the doctrine of sovereign immunity, Justice Wolfe long ago noted that while “the matter of lifting immunity is, perhaps, properly the matter of

legislation... it behooves the courts judicially not to extend the doctrine.” *Niblock v. Salt Lake City*, 100 Utah 573, 111 P.2d 800, 805 (1941)(Wolfe, J. concurring). No question exists that Utah appellate courts require ‘strict compliance’ with the Governmental Immunity Act. However, nothing in the statutory language requires that the Davis County Clerk be named. The statute simply necessitates ‘directing and delivering’ and nothing more. *See*, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(B) (West 2003).

Construing the Act to require that a notice of claim name the entity to which it is directed and delivered not only lacks a basis in statutory language, but also violates the statutory directive to construe waivers of governmental immunity liberally. Statutes in derogation of the common law must be construed to effect their purpose, not thwart the end sought by the legislature. Statutes in derogation of the common law “are to be liberally construed with a view to effect the objects of the statutes and to promote justice.” Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-2 (West 2003). Prior to passage of the Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-1 *et. seq.*, the government remained immune from suit for damages under the premise that the King can do no wrong. “It is generally recognized throughout this country and in England that in the absence of a statute a municipality is not liable for the negligent acts of its servants while they are engaged in performing a governmental function or duty.” *Niblock*, 111 P.2d at 801. By passage of the Governmental Immunity Act, “consent to be sued is granted, and liability of the entity shall be determined as if the entity were a private person.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-

4(1)(b) (West 2003).

Ken Thomson directed the notice of claim to the Davis County Clerk, Steve Rawlings. Finding Mr. Rawlings unavailable, he delivered the notice to Pat Beckstead, a notary within the Davis County Clerk's office and a person represented as authorized to accept service. Because Ken Thomson directed the notice to the county clerk and delivered it to Pat Beckstead, the trial court erred when it concluded that the failure to *name* the Davis County Clerk equated a failure to properly direct the notice to the required authority. Such a reading lacks a basis in the statutory language and simply serves to expand sovereign immunity, directly frustrating the purpose of waiving immunity so that those injured by government negligence may be compensated.

Moreover, none of the authorities relied upon by either Davis County or the trial court impose a requirement that the Notice of Claim name the office to which it is directed and delivered. In *Wheeler v. McPherson*, the claimant made the mistake of directing and delivering notice of claim to the county commissioners. *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 16, 40 P.3d 632. The statute requires directing and delivering the notice to the county clerk. Accordingly, the notice in *Wheeler* failed by virtue of being directed and delivered to the wrong authority, namely the county commission and not the county clerk. Similarly, in *Greene v. Utah Transit Authority*, 2001 UT 109, 37 P.3d 1156, *and, Brown v. Utah Transit Auth.*, 40 P.3d 638 (Utah 2002), the claimant failed to deliver the notice to the UTA president or secretary of the

board. Rather, the claimants delivered notice to the claims department/adjustor. Finally, in *Hall v. Utah State Dep't. of Corrections*, 2001 UT 34, ¶ 26, 24 P.3d 958, the claimant conceded failure to comply with the notice requirements when he did not deliver a notice in advance of filing suit. In each of these cases, the claimant wholly failed to direct or deliver a notice of claim to the appropriate office. Because Melody Little directed and delivered a claim, via formal service of process, the trial court erroneously dismissed the claim.

II. DAVIS COUNTY FAILED TO PROPERLY RAISE THE QUESTION WHETHER NOTICE ADEQUATELY RECITED DAMAGES, MAKING DISMISSAL ON THAT BASIS INAPPROPRIATE.

Davis County failed to raise the argument that damages need be ‘definitively’ set forth in its initial Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment. Where the issue is not raised until the reply memorandum, appellate courts refuse to consider the matter on appeal. “We can summarily dispose of [the] argument regarding unconscionability and lack of consideration. This argument was not before the trial court until [the] Reply Memorandum in support of its motion to revise.” *U.P.C., Inc. v. R.O.A. General, Inc.*, 990 P.2d 945, 953 (Utah Ct. App.1999). “Since defendant first raised the issue in his reply memorandum, it was not properly before the trial court and we will not consider it for the first time on appeal.” *State v. Phathamavong*, 860 P.2d 1001, 1004 (Utah Ct. App.1993). Davis County did not raise an argument regarding sufficiency of the claim for damages. Accordingly, this issue cannot now be considered as grounds to sustain

dismissal.

III. THE NOTICE OF CLAIM DAMAGES RECITATION.ALLOWED  
DAVIS COUNTY THE OPPORTUNITY TO INVESTIGATE AND  
SETTLE THE MATTER.

Even if Davis County properly preserved its argument, the trial court nonetheless erred in dismissing Melody's claim for failure to state the damages incurred. Damages need only be sufficiently set forth so that a determination as to liability exposure can be made. The statute simply requires enumerating the damages "so far as they are known." Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(a)(iii) (West 2003). By raising the damages issue for the first time in its reply brief, Davis County prevented Ms. Little from presenting evidence that her injuries had not yet fully resolved even as of the date the reply brief was filed. While Ms. Little continued treatment no definite amount could be stated for monetary damages.

A notice of claim need only set forth "the essential facts as soon as reasonably possible after the injury so that it will have ample opportunity to make a proper investigation." *Spencer v. Salt Lake City*, 17 Utah 2d 362, 364, 412 P.2d 449, 450 (1966). Davis County alleges that failure to note the amount of damages rendered her notice of claim deficient. (R. 165, Def. Reply Supp. S.J. p. 2). The trial court held that "Plaintiff made no definite statement as to damages, other than to state 'amounts to be proved at trial.'" (R. 309, Court Ruling p. 4). However, Melody's notice recited a broken arm, damaged teeth, pain and suffering, and physical therapy as damages



incurred. (R. 44, Def. Mem. Supp. S.J. at Exh. 1A). Similarly in *Spencer*, the claim generally stated the nature of the alleged defect and the injury. *Id.* The court held that where the damages statement gives authorities opportunity to investigate “it is the duty of the court to look to substance rather than to technicality in order that plaintiff may have a fair adjudication of her claim.” *Id.* 364-65. The injuries and damages in Melody’s notice gave Davis County ample opportunity to make a proper investigation. Allowing dismissal for failure to state an amount in damages elevates nonessential technicalities over the right to seek redress for substantive harm.

Moreover, Melody’s notice cannot be compared to that in the case relied on by the trial court, *Johnson v. City of Bountiful*, 996 F.Supp. 1100, 1103 (D. Utah 1998). In *Johnson*, the claimant’s letter did not “state a claim or any intention to do so” and did not state “damages incurred or provide any other information about their extent or nature.” *Id.* Further, Ms. Little continued to undergo treatment for some time after submission of the notice of claim and, in fact, her injuries had not fully resolved at the time defense counsel took her deposition in March 2002.<sup>2</sup> Not only does the purported requirement to set forth an ‘amount’ for damages find no basis in the statute, it would impose an insurmountable barrier for claimants whose injuries resolved at some point after the statute of limitations ran on filing a notice of claim. Because Ms. Little’s claim set forth

---

<sup>2</sup> According to Melody’s deposition, taken on March 28, 2002, she was still undergoing treatment for her broken elbow and the doctors had not yet decided what to do. (See, Deposition Excerpt of Melody Little, attached as Addendum “D”).

the damages sufficiently to give Davis County an opportunity to investigate, the trial court erred in finding the notice of claim deficient.

### CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in finding the failure to name Davis County Clerk fatal to Melody's notice of claim. There cannot be a more concrete showing that a claimant 'directed and delivered' a notice of claim than by formal service of papers. Practically speaking, if no directing and delivering occurred by Mr. Thomson's actions, it becomes hard to imagine the case where defendant would not escape liability simply by pointing to some inconsequential item on a notice of claim. Accordingly, Appellant requests that this Court find the formal service of papers satisfies the notice of claim requirement.

Davis County wholly failed to raise their argument regarding damages until filing of their reply memorandum. Because Davis County waited to raise the argument, the dismissal on that basis should be reversed. Additionally, Melody's claim in this case stated several specific injuries and harms, allowing Davis County the opportunity to investigate and resolve the matter without needless litigation. No prerequisite exists that a claimant place an exact or estimated dollar amount on their damages. The grounds for dismissing Melody's claim effectively read into the statute requirements not supported by the language of the Governmental Immunity Act. Accordingly, because Melody's notice of claim satisfies the express language, the district court's dismissal should be reversed and Melody given an opportunity to pursue her claim.