2002

Melody Little v. Davis County : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act requires strict compliance with the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11. *Nunez v. Albo, M.D.*, 53 P.3d 2, 9 (Utah Ct. App. 2002); *Brown v. UTA*, 40 P.3d 638 (Utah 2002); *Greene v. UTA*, 37 P.3d 1156, 1159 (Utah 2001); *Hall v. Utah State Dept. of Corrections*, 24 P.3d 958, 965 (Utah 2001); *Great West Casualty*

Co. v. Utah Dept. of Transportation, 21 P.3d 240 244 (Utah Ct. App. 2001); *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 40 P.3d 632 (Utah 2002). The district court reviewed the record evidence and found there was a factual dispute as to whether or not the notice of claim was actually delivered to the person or entity identified in Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11. The Governmental Immunity Act provides in part:

- (3)(a) The notice of claim shall set forth:
 - (i) a brief statement of the facts;
 - (ii) the nature of the claim asserted; and
 - (iii) the damages incurred by the claimant so far as they are known.
- (b) The notice of claim shall be:
 - (i) signed by the person making the claim or that person's agent, attorney, parent or legal guardian; and
 - (ii) directed and delivered to:
 - ...(B) the county clerk, when the claim is against a county.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11, attached has Addendum "E."

The Court notes in its Ruling, that the Affidavit of Ken Thomson submitted by Plaintiff in support of her contention the notice of claim was filed with the Davis County Clerk, "indicates delivery was made to Pat Beckstead, although the signed Affidavit of Service by Ken Thomson dated September 14, 2001 lists personal delivery to Steve Rawlins, the Davis County Clerk, and does not check the "Leaving Said Copy With" box on the Affidavit and does not list the name of Pat Beckstead as receiving delivery for Steve Rawlins." However, construing the pleadings "in a light most favorable to the non-moving party," the Court found a "factual dispute" existed. However, it noted facially, the notice of claim was deficient because it was not "directed to the Davis County Clerk," and it failed to set forth "the damages incurred by the claimant so far as they are known." R. 308, Ruling, Addendum "A."

The district court found the evidence supported a finding that Plaintiff had not complied with the notice of claim requirement in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and granted Defendant's motion for summary judgment. R. 306. The district court's findings and Ruling is clearly supported by the facts and firmly established legal principals.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFF'S NOTICE OF CLAIM DOES NOT MEET THE STRICT COMPLIANCE STANDARDS OF THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT.

A. The Governmental Immunity Act Requires The Notice of Claim Be "Directed and Delivered" to the Davis County Clerk.

The Utah Governmental Immunity Act (hereinafter "the Act") establishes specific parameters under which parties may bring suit against governmental entities for injuries. Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30-1 *et seq.* (2001), *see also Greene v. UTA*, 37 P.3d 1156 (Utah 2001), *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 40 P.3d 632 (Utah 2002), *Brown v. UTA*, 40 P.3d 638 (Utah 2002). In order to sue a governmental entity under these parameters, potential plaintiffs must first provide, as a prerequisite to filing suit, formal "notice of claim" to the appropriate governmental official. *Id.* at §§ 63-30-11, 13, *Greene* at ¶ 13, *Wheeler* at ¶ 10, *Brown* at ¶

4. The Act provides:

A claim against a political subdivision, or against its employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of the employee's duties, within the scope of employment or under color of authority is barred unless notice of claim is filed with the governing body of the political subdivision *according to the requirements of Section 63-30-11* within one year after the claim arises ...

Wheeler at ¶ 10, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-13 (emphasis added).

In cases where the potential plaintiff intends to sue a county, § 63-30-11 provides that the “notice of claim *shall* be . . . directed and delivered to . . . the county clerk.” The legislature’s 1998 amendment of the notice of claim provision, clarified exactly to whom such notices must be delivered. “With the 1998 amendment, the legislature has left little open to interpretation and has resolved any potential ambiguities as to whom the Notice must be delivered and reinforces the rule of strict compliance with the statute.” *Greene* at ¶ 12, *Wheeler* at ¶ 14. “Where the government grants statutory rights of action against itself, any conditions placed on those rights must be followed precisely.” *Wheeler* at ¶ 11 (citations omitted), *Hall v. Utah State Dept. of Corrections*, 24 P.3d 958 (Utah 2001).¹ Consequently, the Immunity Act requires that parties “shall” file a notice of claim prior to suit, it “shall” be directed and delivered to the county clerk, and failure to strictly comply with the notice requirements “shall” deprive the court of subject matter jurisdiction and bar the plaintiff’s claim. *Wheeler* at ¶ 9 (“compliance with the Immunity Act is a prerequisite to vesting a district court with subject matter jurisdiction”), *Great West Casualty Co. v. Utah Dept. of Transportation*, 21 P.3d 240 (Utah Ct. App. 2001), *Rushton v. Salt Lake County*, 977 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1999) (“Failure to file such notice [of claim] deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction.”).

Plaintiff argues her Notice of Claim satisfies the requirements of the act because the

¹ In *Thomas E. Jeremy Estate v. Salt Lake City*, 49 P.2d 405, 407 (Utah 1935), the Supreme Court of Utah held “a cause of action against the government is barred where a notice of claim is not filed with the appropriate official prior to filing suit. See *Hall* at ¶ 24, *Wheeler* at ¶ 12.

Affidavit of her process server indicates it was directed and delivered to Steve Rawlins, Davis County Clerk. *See* Appellants Brief at 4-8. The Plaintiff relies, however, on facts that are clearly in dispute. R.308. Mr. Thomson's Affidavit states that he "attempted to serve the Davis County Clerk." R.126. He does not state that he was "directed" to "deliver" the notice of claim to the Davis County Clerk. Indeed, the notice of claim clearly indicates to whom it is "directed." R.44; Addendum "C." It is directed to "Davis County ... Davis County Attorney ... State of Utah ... Utah Attorney General." R.44. Mr. Thomson's attachment identified as "Affidavit of Service," and dated October 26, 2000, indicates he was directed to serve "Davis County." R.128; Affidavit of Service of Ken Thomson, attached as Addendum "F." Mr. Thomson avers he received the notice of claim on October 20, 2000, he indicates that he personally served "Davis County Clerk Pat Beckstead" on October 25, 2000 and then signed the Affidavit a day later on October 26, 2000. *Id.* Thomson does not indicate on the Affidavit of Service that he inquired and left the notice of claim with a person "authorized to receive service" on behalf of the Davis County Clerk. *Id.* The Affidavit of Service specifically provides for such a contingency. *Id.* Notably, there is no indication as to who represented Pat Beckstead as authorized, there is no notation on the form by Beckstead or any indication on the notice of claim that it was received by an alternative person as is customary. *Id.*

The Davis County Clerk avers in his Affidavit that a notice of claim was "neither directed nor delivered to me as Davis County Clerk." R.235. He further states, "[i]t is my understanding the Notice was simply left at the front desk of the Davis County Memorial Courthouse without an envelope or other direction or instruction as to whom or where it

should be delivered.” *Id.*

In viewing the evidence presented in a “light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment,” the district court held “[t]here is a factual question regarding the actual delivery of the Notice of Claim.” R.309 (emphasis added). The facts presented in the Affidavit of Service and the Affidavit of Ken Thomson are not consistent, do not provide evidence that the Plaintiff complied with the Governmental Immunity Act notice requirements, and do not establish that the notice of claim was “directed and delivered to ... the county clerk.” *Id.* Plaintiff’s continued reliance on the Affidavit of Ken Thomson as “proof” the Plaintiff “directed and delivered” the notice of claim to the Davis County Clerk is unsupported by the evidence in this case.

Moreover, Plaintiff’s argument that the notice “found its way to McLarens” is of no moment. First, the law is absolutely clear, “compliance with the statute is the determining issue, not actual notice.” *Hall*, 24 P.3d at 965, *Rushton v. Salt Lake County*, 977 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1999), *Sears v. Southworth*, 563 P.2d 192, 194 (Utah; 1977); *Scarborough v. Granite School District*, 531 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1975); *Greene*, 37 P.3d at 1159, *Wheeler*, 40 P.3d at 637. Further, there is no indication as to whom forwarded the document. As indicated by Steve Rawlins, the document “was simply left at the front desk” ... of the Courthouse “without direction or instruction as to whom or where it was to be delivered.” R.42; Affidavit of Steve Rawlins, Addendum “D.” The notice of claim itself indicates on its face that it was intended for delivery to “Davis County” and the “Davis County Attorney.” *Id.* Any person employed in any department of Davis County and/or the Office of the Davis

County Attorney may have forwarded this document to “McLarens,”² There is absolutely nothing to support the Plaintiff’s argument that a “reasonable inference” is the Davis County Clerk forwarded the documents. *See* Appellant’s Brief at 5.

The district court found in its Ruling:

Utah courts have been strict in applying the requirements for a Notice of Claim, “applying this rule of strict compliance we have repeatedly denied recourse to parties that have even slightly diverged from the exactness required by the Immunity Act.” *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 40 P.3d 632, 625 (Utah 2002). The Notice of Claim may or may not have been delivered to Steve Rawlins, but it was not directed to the Davis County Clerk, Steve Rawlins.

R. 309; Ruling Addendum “A.”

B. The Governmental Immunity Act Requires The Notice of Claim Set Forth “the damages incurred by the claimant so far as they are known.”

The district court noted the Notice of Claim was also deficient for failing to set forth “the damages incurred by the claimant so far as they are know.” R.309; Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(a). Failure to note the amount of damages incurred or provide any other information about their extent or nature is insufficient for even a sympathetic tribunal to find even substantial compliance under the Act. *Johnson v. City of Bountiful*, 996 F.Supp. 1100, 1103 (D.Utah 1998). This is not a situation where Plaintiff had insufficient time to determine the extent or amount of her damages. *See Spencer v. Salt Lake City*, 412 P.2d 449 (1966) (excusing failure to state amount of damages under prior statute that required claim be filed within 30 days on grounds that damages could not be known by then), *Yearsley v.*

² McLarens Toplis of North America, Inc. was the insurance adjuster for the Utah Association of Counties Insurance Mutual at the time this claim arose.

Jensen, 798 P.2d 1127 (Utah 1990) (holding notice of claim for “physical and emotional distress” resulting from alleged assault by police officer was insufficient description of damages incurred by claimant). Indeed, Plaintiff testified she had completed treatment on her teeth and arm in September 2000, but continued with physical therapy until February 2001. R.188, Deposition of Melody Little 44:8-18; R.187, 40:1-17; R.188, 45:1-8, R.186, 28:22-23.

“Applying this rule of strict compliance, we have repeatedly denied recourse to parties that have even slightly diverged from the exactness required by the Immunity Act.”

Wheeler v. McPherson, 40 P.3d 632, 635 (Utah 2002).

With the 1998 amendment, the legislature has left little open to interpretation and has resolved any potential ambiguities as to whom the Notice must be delivered. This move to clarify the delivery requirements of the Immunity Act reinforces the rule of strict compliance with the statute.

Wheeler, 40 P.3d at 636 (citations omitted). “Where, as here, the statute is clear, readily available, and easily accessible by counsel, there is no reason to require anything less than strict compliance.” *Id.* at n. 3. Plaintiff’s failure to comply with the strict statutory requirements deprives the Court of subject matter jurisdiction in this matter.

II. STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH THE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT IS NECESSARY TO CONFER SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO THE TRIAL COURT.

Plaintiff argues the County “waived” its right to allege improper notice of claim because “Davis County failed to raise the argument that damages need to be ‘definitively’ set forth in its initial Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment. Appellant’s Brief at pp. 8-9. This argument fails for two reasons. First, the entire basis of Davis County’s

Motion for Summary Judgment was the Plaintiff's failure to comply with the Governmental Immunity Act's notice of claim requirement. R.28-71. Second, strict compliance with the Governmental Immunity Act is necessary to confer subject matter jurisdiction upon a trial court. *Greene*, 37 P.3d at 1159. Jurisdictional issues are threshold questions and must be addressed before a trial court can even consider other arguments. *Id.* Thus, failure to comply with the Immunity Act requires a trial court to dismiss a complaint. *Id.* It is well established in Utah law that challenges to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time and cannot be waived by the parties. *Barnard v. Wassermann*, 855 P.2d 243 (Utah 1993).³ "When a matter is outside the court's jurisdiction, it retains only the authority to dismiss the action." *VarianEimac v. Lamoreaux*, 767 P.2d 569, 570 (Utah Ct.App.1989).

The District Court found:

Plaintiff made no definite statement as to damages other than to state "amounts to be proved at trial." Plaintiff had two months to discover the damage amounts for immediate injuries, but failed to set forth "the damages incurred by the claimant so far as they are known."

R.308. The District court's determination that the "Notice of Claim is deficient for purposes of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and interpretive case law" was correct. Plaintiff's

² *Thomas v. Lewis*, 26 P.3d 217 (Utah 2001) ("the notice of claim provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act are jurisdictional and although not raised in the court below, this issue determines our authority to address the merits of the case and may therefore be raised at any time."); *Lamarr v. Utah State Dep't of Transp.*, 828 P.2d 535, 540 (Utah Ct.App.1992) ("because improper notice divests the court of subject matter jurisdiction, failure to provide proper notice of claim is a non-waivable defense that any party, or the court, can raise at any time."); *State v. Tunzi*, 31 P.3d 588 (Utah Ct. App. 2001) ("Subject matter jurisdiction is the authority and competency of the court to decide the case.... consequently, any jurisdictional defect arising from misapplication of the statute cannot be waived"); *James v. Galetka*, 965 P.2d 567, 570 (Utah Ct.App.1998) (subject matter jurisdiction "can neither be waived nor conferred by consent"); *In re E.G.T.*, 808 P.2d 138, 139 (Utah Ct.App.1991) ("a [subject matter] jurisdictional defect cannot be waived"); *Petersen v. Utah Bd. of Pardons*, 907 P.2d 1148, 1151 (Utah 1995) ("[s]ubject matter jurisdiction is an issue that can and should be addressed sua sponte when jurisdiction is questionable.").